

Online Research @ Cardiff

This is an Open Access document downloaded from ORCA, Cardiff University's institutional repository: http://orca.cf.ac.uk/100228/

This is the author's version of a work that was submitted to / accepted for publication.

Citation for final published version:

Al Thaher, Yazan, Perni, Stefano and Prokopovich, Polina 2017. Nano-carrier based drug delivery systems for sustained antimicrobial agent release from orthopaedic cementous material. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 249, pp. 234-247. 10.1016/j.cis.2017.04.017 file

Publishers page: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2017.04.017 <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2017.04.017>

Please note:

Changes made as a result of publishing processes such as copy-editing, formatting and page numbers may not be reflected in this version. For the definitive version of this publication, please refer to the published source. You are advised to consult the publisher's version if you wish to cite this paper.

This version is being made available in accordance with publisher policies. See http://orca.cf.ac.uk/policies.html for usage policies. Copyright and moral rights for publications made available in ORCA are retained by the copyright holders.



Nano-carrier based drug delivery systems for sustained antimicrobial agent release from orthopaedic cementous material

by

Yazan Al Thaher¹, Stefano Perni¹, Polina Prokopovich^{1*}.

¹School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Science, Cardiff University, Cardiff, UK

* Corresponding author:

School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Science

Cardiff University

Redwood Building,

King Edward VII Avenue

Cardiff, UK

CF10 3NB

E-mail address: prokopovichp@cf.ac.uk

Abstract

Total joint replacement (TJR), such as hip and knee replacement, is a popular procedure worldwide. Prosthetic joint infections (PJI) after this procedure have been widely reported, where treatment of such infections is complex with high cost and prolonged hospital stay. In cemented arthroplasties, the use of antibiotic loaded bone cement (ALBC) is a standard practice for the prophylaxis and treatment of PJI. Recently, the development of bacterial resistance by pathogenic microorganisms against most commonly used antibiotics increased the interest in alternative approaches for antimicrobial delivery systems such as nanotechnology. This review summarises the efforts made to improve the antimicrobial properties of PMMA bone cements using nanotechnology based antibiotic and non-antibiotic delivery systems to overcome drawbacks of ALBC in the prophylaxis and treatment of PJIs after hip and knee replacement.

Keywords: PMMA, nanotechnology, bone cement, nanoparticles, antimicrobial, TJR.

Contents

1		Introduction4								
2		Total joint replacement5								
	2.1	1	Revision surgery							
	2.2	2	nented joint replacements	7						
		2.2.	1	Total knee replacement		8				
		2.2.	2	Total hip replacement		9				
	2.3	3	PMN	MA bone cements	9					
	2.4	1	Pros	sthetic infections	.12					
		2.4.	1	Treatment	1	3				
		2.4.	2	Prophylaxis	1	5				
	2.5	5	Limi	tations for antibiotic loaded bone cements	.16					
		2.5.	1	Antibiotic elution properties from bone cement	1	6				
		2.5.	2	Development of antimicrobial resistance	1	7				
		2.5.	3	Antibiotics effect on the mechanical properties of bone cement	1	7				
3		Nov	el bo	one cement formulations	.18					
	3.1	1	Role	e of nanotechnology	.18					
	3.2	2	Nan	otechnology based antibiotic based antimicrobial bone cements	.19					
	3.3	3	Non	-antibiotic based antimicrobial bone cements	.21					
4		Dru	g del	livery systems and nano-formulations for potential use in bone cemen	nts23					
5		Conclusion25								
6		Acknowledgements26								
7		Ref	eren	ces	.27					
8		Tab	les		.48					
9		Figure captions56								

1 Introduction

Total joint replacement (TJR), such as hip and knee replacements, are increasing worldwide because of growing aging population and risk factors such obesity. For example, more than 1 million hip and knee replacement are performed annually in the United States, while more than 160000 replacements were performed in the UK in 2014 only. Prosthetic joint infections (PJI) is a serious problem that is not only reduces success rate and need for revision surgery, but also leads to patient death. The treatment of such infections is complex with aggressive surgical intervention and long antimicrobial therapy, which places huge burden on health care systems worldwide.

The use of PMMA bone cement is considered the gold standard in hip and knee replacement, because of its mechanical performance and well-documented clinical history. PMMA bone cements major function is to fix the implant in adjacent bone, but also they are frequently used to release antibiotics for the prophylaxis and treatment of PJI. The use of antibiotics loaded PMMA bone cements is a standard practice in TJR with concomitant systemic antibiotics. Local release of antibiotics is preferred over systemic release, because of higher concentration of antibiotics are delivered locally avoiding side effects associated with systemic therapy.

Nowadays, antimicrobial resistance to many antibiotics decreased their efficacy in the treatment of infections, particularly PJI. This problem necessities the development of new antimicrobial agents to keep up with the emergence of bacterial strains resistant to currently used antibiotics. Nanotechnology have been applied successfully in the improving drug delivery in the treatment of many diseases such as cancer [1], inflammation [2], hypertension [3]. Therefore, nanotechnology can serve as an approach to solve the limitations of antimicrobial therapy and most importantly antimicrobial resistance by developing platforms for efficient drug delivery, and developing new antimicrobial nanomaterials which pathogens may not be able to develop resistance [4]. Nowadays, the development of antimicrobial resistance is much faster than the discovery of new antimicrobial agents, because of

occurrence of resistant bacterial strains and the long process for the approval of new drugs which increases the demand for long-term solution. This review introduces the use of nanotechnology in PMMA bone cements, especially in improving the antimicrobial properties and providing prophylaxis from PJI after hip and knee replacements.

2 Total joint replacement

The replacement of a dysfunctional joint with an orthopaedic implant is reserved as the last choice for the treatment of joint diseases. Arthritic and degenerative diseases is a leading cause of disability worldwide [5]. The most common form of arthritis is osteoarthritis which affects around 15% of the population [6]. In the United States (US), more than 26 million people are suffering from osteoarthritis [7], while that number reaches 8.5 million in the United Kingdom (UK) [8].

Total joint replacement (TJR) is the treatment of choice for patients with end-stage arthritis when less invasive therapies fail to alleviate the severe pain or dysfunction of the joint (Figure 1) [9]. This procedure showed noticeable progress in patients' quality of life [10,11]. According to the National Joint Registry [12], the predominant indication for TJR was osteoarthritis (more than 90% in hip and knee replacements) between the years 2003 and 2014. Whereas, a small percentage undertook TJR for other reasons, such as avascular necrosis, trauma infection and inflammatory arthritis.

The popularity of total hip and total knee replacements is increasing worldwide which places a huge burden on health care systems [13–15]. In the US, over 1 million hip and knee replacement are performed annually [16]. This number is expected to increase drastically in the next 20 years because of ageing as well as growing prevalence of risk factors such as obesity [17,18]. In the UK, the same trend is apparent; between the years 2003 and 2014 708,644 and 772,113 primary hip and knee replacements were performed, respectively. In 2014, 83,125 hip and 91,955 knee replacement were performed in the UK (Figure 1) [12].

2.1 Revision surgery

Despite the ability of TJR to improve the quality of life and retrieve mobility to many patients, the life expectancy for this procedure is around 10-15 years [19–21], hence there is a need for revision surgeries. Revision surgeries are the joint replacements performed after primary TJR because of implant failure. In the US, revision surgeries account for 18% of hip and 8% of knee total replacements performed each year [22]. Similarly, revisions in the UK are 11 % (8925) of hip and 6 % (5873) of knee primary procedures performed in 2014 [12]. The main reasons for revision are aseptic loosening, pain, and infection.

Compared to primary surgery, revision surgery is more complex and takes longer time to perform [23]. In addition, clinical and functional outcomes are poorer such as pain, joint stiffness and stability, muscle impairment and atrophy, with lower patient satisfaction and quality of life after surgery, because of complexity and nature of revision surgery [24]. Thus, revision is accompanied by higher complication rates, longer patient hospital stay and the use of a more expensive implants [25,26]. Accordingly, revision surgeries are associated with higher costs when compared to primary replacements, as well as relatively shorter survival [27]. For example, the cost of primary knee replacement is around \$15000, while the cost of revision surgery is higher and can reach \$ 24000 [26]. In the UK, health care costs for revision surgery were estimated to be 80 million in the year 2010 [28].

Infection after joint replacements is a severe problem that not only decreases the success rates of surgery, but also can be life threatening to patients. Despite antibiotic prophylaxis and operation under laminar flow, infection rates in the first two years of primary replacement are 1% in knee replacements, 2% in hip replacements and can reach 9% in other types of TJRs. Also, infection rates are significantly higher after revision surgeries (up to 40%) [29,30]. These percentages translate into large numbers when we look at the total numbers of TJRs done annually. For example, 2,400 revision procedures were performed in the UK in 2014 due to infection [12] and 22,000 revisions of infected knee and hip replacements were done in the US in 2009 [31]. Prosthetic infections extend hospitalization time, readmissions

and length of antimicrobial treatment, hence increasing the economic burden on health care systems; the cost of treatment for an incident of prosthetic infection can reach \$50000 which is more than 3 times the cost of primary surgery and 2 times the cost of revision surgery [32].

2.2 Cemented joint replacements

Nowadays, there are two main types for TJRs, namely, cemented and cementless joint replacements (Figure 2). In cemented TJRs, bone cement is widely used for fixation of prosthesis. Poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) based bone cement is the gold standard material used in such procedures. This type of TJR involves complete removal of the impaired joint, after that a cavity is made inside the bone. The surgeon fills the cavity with PMMA bone cement. Then, the metallic implant is placed and positioned in the cavity while the cement sets. Cementless TJRs follow the same procedure except that the implant is inserted in direct contact with bone without using a cement [33].

Bone cements are routinely used in TJRs to fasten the orthopaedic implant in place; transfer mechanical stresses and loads between the stiff metallic implant and bone tissue; and, commonly, to provide prophylaxis from post-surgical prosthetic infections by releasing one or more antibiotic such gentamicin or tobramycin (Figure 3) [34]. In addition, advantages for using bone cement include that the bone cavity does not have to be perfect match with the implant and the use of bone cement reduces the need for blood transfusions, because of reduced blood loss and the cement tamponade effect [35,36]. Furthermore, the most important reason for using PMMA bone cement in TJR is the outstanding long term survivorship (98% at ten years and 91% at 20 years) [37,38]. However, there are always concerns about cemented replacements because of their degradation products and debris, as well as deterioration of bone cement interface and third body wear [39]. These concerns led researchers to seek new alternatives for fixation, i.e. cementless fixation.

Cementless replacements depend on biological fixation or osteo-integration of the implant to the bone; advocates of this type of fixation believe that bone ingrowth through the micropores of the metallic implant can achieve more durable fixation with bone (Figure 2b).

The claimed advantages of cementless fixation are: shorter operation time, ease of revision, and improved longevity for active younger patients [40]. However, cementless fixation has inconsistent long term results and is not regularly used in most centres, because it is accompanied with a high rate of revision [12,41,42].

2.2.1 Total knee replacement

The use of cemented implant is the 'gold standard' in total knee replacement (TKR) in the last 3 decades and has high success rates of more than 95% at 15 years with long term durability [37]. Many articles reported outstanding long term results for cemented TKR. Crowder *et al.* (2005) analysed 32 patients with cemented implants, he reported survivorship rate of 100% in 15 years and 93.7% in 20 years after TKR procedure. Gill *et al.* (1997) [44] reported 96.5 % survivorship 18 years after the procedure in patients 55 years old or younger. Ritter *et al.* (2007) [45] also reported 97.6% success rate in the same age group when followed for 9.1 years. Vessely *et al.* (2006) [46] looked at 244 patients with cemented TKR, survivorship was 95.7% in 15 years after the procedure. Another study, including 265 patients with posterior stabilized prosthesis, had 94.1% success rate over 16 years [47].

Many authors have directly compared cemented fixation with cementless fixation in TKR [48,49]. Rand *et al.* (2003) [50] carried out a survivorship analysis for 11606 patients at 10 years. The success rate was 92% in patients with cemented prostheses, whereas only 61% success rate reported in patients without cement (P<0.0001). Barrack *et al.* (2004) [48] compared 82 cementless mobile bearing knees with 73 cemented knees, 8% of cementless knees were revised, while no revision found in cemented knees. Rorabeck (1999) [12] looked at 484 patients of hybrid and cemented knee fixation, reporting 9.6% revision rate in hybrid group (uncemented femur and cemented tibia), compared to 1.6% in the cemented group after 3 years [49]. Figure 4 shows the number of TKR in UK between the years 2003-2014.

2.2.2 Total hip replacement

Clinical studies performed on total hip replacement (THR) with cemented implants have convincing long term results. Berry *et al.* (2002) [51] reported a survivorship rate of 80% in 25 years after the procedure in 1689 patients with cemented implant. Another study about cemented implant including 226 patients reported similar survival rate of 81% in 25 years [52]. However, a tendency towards cementless hip replacement has been seen in recent days, because of the significant improvement in survival rate for cementless stems. In patients using cementless BiCONTACT stem, the survival rate is 94.4% in 15 years [53]. Emerson *et al.* (2002) [54] looked at 181 patients with cemented and cementless hip implant. The survivorship was 84 % in cemented group, while it was 100% in cementless group. Cementless implants are specifically selected for young active patients who have greater physical loads with greater failure rates secondary to loosening, whereas cemented implants are used for older patients with poor bone quality [55,56]. Figure 5 shows the number of THR in the UK between the years 2003-2014 [12].

2.3 PMMA bone cements

Poly (methyl methacrylate) polymer (PMMA) is a polymer based on methyl methacrylate (MMA) monomer units. PMMA cement is prepared by mixing two constituents together: PMMA polymer powder and liquid MMA monomer (Figure 6). After mixing the two components, the hardened bone cement is formed by an exothermic free radical polymerization reaction, as the liquid monomer polymerizes around the pre-polymerized powder producing heat [57]. The heat of the setting reaction can reach (66-82.5 °C). The setting time for the cement is relatively short (less than 15 min) and the cement must be inserted into the bone before cement hardening, otherwise the procedure cannot be completed [58]. Premature polymerization of the liquid component may happen because of exposure to heat and light. Therefore, Hydroquinone is added as a stabilizer to prevent polymerization before mixing of the cement constituents. Benzoyl peroxide is added to the powder to initiate the free radical polymerization reaction, while N, N-Dimethyl para-toluidine

(DMPT) is added as an accelerator to facilitate the polymerization reaction between the polymer and monomer at room temperature (Chaudhry & Dunlop, 2012). Barium sulphate (BaSO₄) or zirconium dioxide (ZrO₂) are added as radiopaque agent to allow X-ray imaging because PMMA is not radiopaque [59].

At present, many commercial bone cements are marketed by different manufacturers (Table 1). The main differences between different formulations are the molecular weight of PMMA, the ratio between homopoylmer and copolymer, the ratio between powder and liquid, the radiopacifier and other additives such as antibiotics. Different copolymers of different acrylic monomers are added to modify the mechanical properties of the cement, such as MMA, styrene and Ethyl methacrylate [60]. Table 1 shows the composition of some commercially available PMMA bone cements.

The main drawback of PMMA bone cement is the absence of bone bonding ability, i.e. bioactivity. This can lead to the formation of fibrous tissue around the implant and a space for the wear particles to accumulate [61]. As a result, bone resorption around the implant causes loosening and failure of the implant after a long period of time, which is the most commonly reported reason for revision in cemented replacements [12]. Despite the extensive research done on developing alternatives for PMMA in THR and TKR, PMMA stays to be the biomaterial of choice in TJRs since the 1960s, because of its acceptable long term survivorship and long-established clinical history as well as excellent mechanical properties [57]. Extensive research has been directed on developing new bioactive bone cements that integrate with bone, and improving the biocompatibility as well as mechanical properties of PMMA bone cements [62,63].

One of the examples on bone cements with bioactive properties is calcium phosphate bone cement (CPC), which has been studied since 1980s [64]. Their poor mechanical properties such as strength, toughness and brittleness limited their application to low load-bearing arthroplasties e.g. craniofacial and maxillofacial surgeries (Table 2). Despite CPCs bioactive properties, their inferior mechanical properties are not sufficient to replace the use of PMMA

in high load-bearing arthroplasties such as knee and hip replacements [65,66]. The mechanism for setting reaction involves a dissolution-precipitation process that occurs at body temperature, without causing tissue necrosis in the surrounding tissue unlike the exothermic setting reaction for PMMA [67]. Despite the presence of many CPC formulations, the final product only could be either brushite or hydroxyapatite. Brushite is a metastable form that may transform into hydroxyapatite at pH>4 in vivo [68]. CPCs are microporous in nature which helps in the penetration of biological fluids, hence they are resorbable and can be replaced by bone [69]. In addition, the micropores enhance the ability of CPCs to load drugs which is an appealing option for any type of biomaterial [70,71].

Apatite/wollastonite is another bioactive bone cement that has been researched for use in knee and hip replacements. Apatite/wollastonite glass bioactive ceramics have currently many medical applications and used as bone filler or bulk material [72]. Also, they have higher mechanical properties than other bioactive ceramics and cortical bone (Table 2). However, they cannot be used in high load arthroplasties such as hip and knee replacements, because their fracture toughness is lesser and elastic modulus is greater than those of cortical bone [73].

Dental cements have been also researched for orthopaedic application such as glass polyalkenoate and Bioglass [74,75]. Glass polyalkenoate is a dental cement with good mechanical properties (Table 2), but the release of aluminium from the glass phase causes defective bone mineralization and limits their use in the orthopaedic field [76]. In order to avoid this problem aluminium was replaced with Zn, as it has a positive effect on osteoblast proliferation and increases bone mass. However, Zn based glass polyalkenoate has substantially inferior mechanical and setting properties compared with aluminium containing counterparts [75]. Moreover, resin modified glass polyalkenoate, another biomaterial, was developed to improve the poor mechanical properties of conventional glass polyalkenoate. Although it has good mechanical properties, they suffer from volumetric shrinkage after curing which causes mechanical failure at the implant interface [77,78].

None of the previously mentioned bioactive cements have the required mechanical properties to be used in high load bearing arthroplasties. Despite the lack of bone-bonding properties of PMMA, it is still the only biomaterial to be used in cemented hip and knee arthroplasties. Therefore, PMMA fails to achieve a long-lasting replacement making aseptic loosening the most common cause for revision. Newly developed bone cement should have both bone-bonding properties (bioactivity), as well as mechanical properties that match those of bone and optimally have antimicrobial properties [79].

2.4 Prosthetic infections

The success of TJRs in relieving pain and improving the quality of life for patients is increasingly growing. Infection is considered the most serious problem after joint prosthesis implantation, which decreases success rate of the surgery and can be life threatening to patients in some cases [29]. Prosthetic infections are difficult to diagnose and occur at variable times after the primary surgery. Management of prosthetic infections is complex and needs multiple procedures and prolonged antimicrobial therapy with poor functional outcome [30]. This places considerable burden on medical resources and health care expenditure, because of the high cost of prosthetic joint infection incidence treatment that can reach up to \$50000 [32]. Efforts have been made to reduce the risk of prosthetic infections such as the use of perioperative antimicrobial prophylaxis and surgical laminar airflow environment, however the incidence of prosthetic infection is still high and can reach up to 2% in total hip and knee replacement, and even higher after revision surgeries (up to 40%) [29].

Prosthetic infections have 3 classifications based on the onset of infection, namely, (i) early, (ii) delayed, (iii) late infections. For early infections, the signs and symptoms of infections appear in the first 3 months after surgery, and the infection are usually because of bacterial contamination during or after surgery caused by highly virulent microorganisms. Early infections account for up to 45% of prosthetic infections. In delayed infections, the first signs and symptoms appear after 3 months to 2 years after surgery. The causes of delayed infections are low virulent microorganisms inoculated during surgery. In late infections, the

onset starts after 2 years from surgery, and caused by seeding via the blood from an infection in other body parts such as skin, respiratory or urinary tract infections [80–82].

Biofilm formation is the typical mode of growth for bacteria involved in prosthetic infections, which adds to the difficulty and length of treatment. The microorganisms in biofilms form ordered and complex clusters enclosed by a hydrophilic polymeric matrix [30,80]. Biofilms shelter microorganisms form antibiotics and host immune defence, as well as increase bacterial resistance and reduce susceptibility to antibiotics by 500-5000 times compared to planktonic, free floating bacteria [29]. In addition, the implant acts as a binding site for bacterial accumulation into biofilms and decreases the minimum dose of bacteria needed to cause infection [30].

The most commonly encountered bacteria in prosthetic joint infections are coagulasenegative staphylococci (30-43%) and *Staphylococcus aureus* (12-23%), followed by streptococci (9-10%), Gram-negative bacilli (3-6%), enterococci (3-7%), and anaerobes (2-4%). Polymicrobial infections, which usually occur postoperatively, are seen in (10-12%) and they are difficult to treat.[80,83].

2.4.1 Treatment

The treatment of prosthetic infection aims to relieve patients from pain, restore joint mobility and eradicate infections. Treatment of such infections is typically challenging and complex with combined aggressive surgical interventions and antimicrobial therapy, which make it hard to achieve all of the 3 aims together. Management of prosthetic infections should be customised for each patient and usually includes one of 3 main types of surgical interventions [29,84]. First, prosthetic retention with debridement of all infected tissue and irrigation, which is a choice for early postoperative or late haematogenous infections with retention of the prosthesis and long term antibiotic treatment [85,86]. Second, prosthetic exchange, the most frequently used, by one stage or two stage revision. In one stage revision, the removal of all foreign material debridement and reimplantation of a new prosthesis are done in the same procedure [87]. While in two stages revision, the removal of foreign material and debridement are done, and the reimplantation of a new prosthesis is delayed for a variable period of time (typically after > 6 weeks) [88]. Third, salvage procedure including resection arthroplasty, arthrodesis and amputation which are the last choice when infection management is not achievable by the previously mentioned interventions [89].

Two stage revision has become the standard procedure in the treatment of deep tissue prosthetic infections [90]. The two-stage approach gives sufficient time for debridement and removal of the infected tissues, the determination of the infecting microorganism and its sensitivity to antibiotics, modifying the antimicrobial therapy before reimplantation. However, extended hospitalization increases the surgery costs, while delayed mobilization and risk of other surgery is cautiously considered, particularly in elderly people [91].

In two stage surgery, the use of antibiotic-impregnated spacers is considered the gold standard for the eradication of infection and avoiding limb shortening [92,93]. Spacers are bone cement pieces that is placed in the joint place to prevent muscle contractions and preserve their length. The use of a temporary spacer in two-stage surgery in knee replacement gives the patient the ability to move, also provides good alignment of the knee between the two stages [94,95]. Success rates with the use of antibiotic impregnated PMMA interim spacer/prosthesis are reported to be higher than 90% [96]. The advantage offered by such spacer is delivering high level of antibiotic locally, while maintaining joint mobility [97]. Table 3 shows common antibiotic combinations used for the impregnation of PMMA bone cement spacers.

2.4.2 Prophylaxis

Antibiotic loaded bone cements (ALBC)s are routinely used in hip and knee TJRs not only in the treatment of prosthetic infections, but also to prevent infections after cemented replacements, and their use become a well-established practise along with peri-operative systemic antibiotics [98,99]. More than 90% of surgeons use ALBC in primary TKR in the UK [100], Sweden [101], and Norway [99]. The use of ALBC in knee replacements reduces the percentage of prosthetic infection compared to bone cements lacking antibiotics [102,103]. Similarly, the use of ALBC in hip replacements improves survivorship by reducing the risk of prosthetic infections after primary replacements [104,105]. A meta-analysis evaluating the efficacy of ALBC in hip replacements reported that the use of ALBC reduces prosthetic infections after primary hip replacements from 2.3% to 1.2%, and 40% after revision [98].

Local antibiotic release from the bone cement gives higher concentration in the joint compared with systemic antibiotics, which are hindered by limited blood circulation at the site of implantation [106,107]. Moreover, local delivery of antibiotics avoids the adverse effects of high antibiotic levels in the blood, such as nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity [108]. Hence, ALBC provide an alternative strategy for the prosthetic infection prophylaxis.

The antibiotic loaded acrylic bone cements available commercially can be either a premixed powder, where the antibiotic is blended with the cement powder by the manufacturer, or an off-label formulation. In off-label formulations the antibiotic powder is provided separately to be mixed with the cement by the surgeon during surgery [109,110]. Low concentrations of the antibiotic (0.5-1.0 g per 40 of powder) are used for primary arthroplasty prophylaxis and second stage of a two-stage revision arthroplasty, while high concentrations (2.0-4.0 g per 40 g powder) are used for the treatment of existing active infection [111].

The choice of antibiotic for incorporation in the bone cement depends on several factors. Desirable antibiotic characteristics include availability in powder form, wide antibacterial spectrum, thermal stability to withstand the high exothermic temperature of the setting reaction, elution from the bone cement for a prolonged period, low allergic effects and most

importantly low influence on the mechanical properties of the bone cement [112]. Among the antibiotics used, which usually meet these criteria, are aminoglycoside (gentamicin and tobramycin) [113] and glycopeptides (vancomycin) [114]. The combination of antibiotics from more than one group gives a wide antimicrobial spectrum [115]. Table 4 shows some of the commercially available bone cement brands and the incorporated antibiotics.

2.5 Limitations for antibiotic loaded bone cements

2.5.1 Antibiotic elution properties from bone cement

The elution kinetics of antibiotics from PMMA bone cements are highly variable and depend on many factors. Different brands of bone cements come with different compositions, viscosities and porosities [116,117]. Hence this leads to differences in their ability to release antibiotics. Porosity is introduced into the cement by the formation of air bubbles during the exothermic setting reaction and depends on the viscosity and manipulation technique [118]. Porosity increases antibiotic elution from bone cement but at the same time has a negative impact on it's mechanical properties [119]. Among other factors affecting elution kinetics is a type of antibiotic used or antibiotic combinations [115,120].

The ideal ALBC should sustain the release of antibiotic at high concentrations for a long time to prevent early onset infections and avoid the development of resistant bacterial strains [112]. However, the antibiotic release from ALBC, in reality, is characterised by initial uncontrolled burst release for the first few hours after surgery. Subsequently, the antibiotic release drops rapidly below inhibitory levels within few days, and does not provide long term sustained delivery of antibiotics [121–124]. Moreover, more than 90% of the loaded antibiotic may still be entrapped within the hydrophobic PMMA matrix [125,126]. The initial burst release occurs when the ALBC is exposed to fluid surrounding the joint and governs mainly by a surface phenomenon because of the presence of antibiotic agglomerates on the

surface of bone cement, while the sustained release over the next few days is a bulk phenomenon and more affected by the porosity of cement [127].

2.5.2 Development of antimicrobial resistance

Antibiotic burst release from the bone cement is followed by slow release of antibiotic at low concentrations below the minimum inhibitory concentration needed to kill bacteria [122,124]. This slow release increases the chances for selecting resistant microbial strains which raises concerns about future effectiveness of antibiotics used in ALBCs [128,129]. The bacterial strains selected at low antibiotic concentrations are generally highly resistant [130]. Some experimental studies show the capacity of pathogens to grow on the surface of ABLC and the ability to form biofilms [30,127]. Anguita-Alonso *et al.* (2005) investigated the susceptibility of Staphylococci taken from patients with prosthetic infection against gentamicin and tobramycin (aminoglycoside antibiotics) [131]. 41% and 66% of bacteria were resistant to gentamicin and tobramycin respectively. Corona *et al.* (2014) compared antibiotic susceptibility between patients having infection for the first time and patients with previous use of ALBC and found a significantly higher resistance, indicating the risk of selecting aminoglycosides resistant strains after using ALBC [132].

2.5.3 Antibiotics effect on the mechanical properties of bone cement

Addition of antibiotics to bone cements has a negative impact on their mechanical properties. Small quantities of antibiotics (< 1g per 40 g of bone cement) slightly decrease compressive and bending strength of bone cement but stays in the acceptable range stated by the standard ISO 5833:2002, while high antibiotic quantities cause a significant decrease in the mechanical properties [110,133]. The acceptable ranges for the mechanical properties of a set bone cement are > 70 MPa compressive strength, > 1800 MPa bending modulus and >50 MPa bending strength [134]. High dose ALBCs (>2g per 40g cement) are only used temporarily in spacers for the treatment of prosthetic infection in two stage surgery, because their poor mechanical properties, while low dose ALBCs (< 2g per 40g cement) are used for prophylaxis where mechanical properties are important for implant fixation [121,135].

Persson *et al.* (2006) reported a detrimental decrease in the bending (-22%) and fatigue strength (-15%) of bone cement when vancomycin was added at 2.5% w/w [136]. He *et al.* observed that the use of gentamicin at concentrations below 3% had no significant effect on the compressive and elastic modulus of bone cement; however, higher concentrations caused significant decrease in these two parameters [137].

3 Novel bone cement formulations

3.1 Role of nanotechnology

Currently used antibiotics have many limitations including microbial resistance, narrow therapeutic index, cytotoxicity and side effects linked to non-selectivity in their mode of action and poor release profiles from carrier systems. Nanotechnology, which refers to the production and application of materials in the size range (1-100nm), has been used in the treatment of many diseases such as cancer [1], inflammation [2], hypertension [3]. The success of nanotechnology in improving drug release in the treatment of many diseases makes it an appealing approach for application in antimicrobial therapy. Nowadays, the development of antimicrobial resistance is rapidly increasing compared to the discovery of new antimicrobial agents. Therefore, the development of nanotechnology drug delivery systems or new antimicrobial nanomaterials can be used to overcome the problems of inefficient delivery of antimicrobial agents and resistance to currently used antimicrobials [4].

Novel nanotechnology drug delivery systems offer many advantages to overcome the current challenges with antimicrobial therapy. Nanoparticles have unique physicochemical properties such as large ratio of surface area to mass, small size, and ease of structural or functional modification. The antibiotics can be loaded into nanoparticles by physical encapsulation, adsorption or chemical conjugation where the drug release profiles can be significantly altered compared to free drug counterpart, enhancing poor delivery of drugs and sustaining release [138]. In addition, specific microbial resistance mechanisms to antibiotics can be overcome using nano-systems, which act on multiple biological pathways present in

most types of bacteria [139]. Moreover, nano-carriers can be used for the delivery of multiple antibiotics to provide synergistic effect against resistant strains [140]. Nanoparticles labelled antibiotics increase binding to bacteria and the concentration at the site of infection. These improvements can be attributed to the enhanced solubility of drugs and controlled release profiles. Also, nano-systems decreases side effects by enhancing cellular internalization and uniform distribution in the target tissue, and improving the pharmacokinetic profiles and patient compliance to antibiotics [141]. Compared to antibiotic synthesis, the preparation of nanoparticles is cost-effective giving stable formulations for long term storage. Although, antibiotics can be degraded easily at harsh conditions, nanoparticles can withstand harsh conditions such as high temperature and sterilization [4].

3.2 Nanotechnology based antibiotic based antimicrobial bone cements

Nanotechnology based antibiotic delivery systems is a becoming a new approach for solving the limitation of antimicrobial therapy. Nanoparticles can be used to improve the release kinetics of antibiotics by enhancing delivery and providing controlled release. These improvements are attributed to large area to mass ration and small size, and different ways available for modification and for antibiotic loading [138]. Many nanotechnology-based antibiotic carriers have been researched to improve the antibiotic release profile from PMMA bone cement including liposomes [142], mesoporous silica [143], carbon nano-tubes, hydroxyapatite nano-rods and clay nanotubes [144].

Although liposomes have miscibility problems in non-aqueous environment because of their hydrophilic surface, they were used to improve gentamicin distribution within PMMA bone cement. Liposomes have been largely used as drug carrier in aqueous suspensions, and have miscibility problems when mixed with PMMA leading to phase separation [145]. Ayre *et al.* (2015) [142] solved the problem of phase separation using Pluronics on the surface of liposomes (Figure 7).

Pluronics are surfactants made of interconnected chains of polyethylene oxide (PEO) and poly propylene oxide (PPO) subunits. It is hypothesized that the hydrophilic PEO will attach to the hydrophilic surface of liposomes, while the PPO will attach to the hydrophobic matrix of PMMA. Liposomes were suspended to the liquid MMA part of before mixing with PMMA powder. Moreover, pelleted liposomes of 100 nm size were prepared by extrusion and ultracentrifuged with 3 different Pluronic surfactants (L31, L43, and L61). Gentamicin release from liposomal bone cement was sustained for 30 days with 22% of the loaded antibiotic released compared to 9% from commercial formulation. Gentamicin release was characterized by bust release in the first 72 hrs for commercial bone cement, while liposomal cement showed nearly linear release profile. Despite the slight reduction in compressive strength, the liposomal formulation enhanced the toughness, bending strength and Vickers hardness of cement when compared to Palacos R+G. The addition of liposomes improved the dispersion of gentamicin in bone cement and improved the mechanical properties as well.

In another work, Shen *et al.* (2016) [143] mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSN) were used to improve the release kinetics of gentamicin from PMMA bone cement. The presence of 10% MSN enhanced the release for more than 60% of loaded gentamicin over 80 days. Furthermore, the concentration of MSN was found to be crucial to build a nano network to facilitate the diffusion of gentamicin molecules as supported by images (Figure 8). Hence, MSN concentration below 6 % could not improve gentamicin release. The compressive strengths of MSN functionalized bone cements is nearly the same as the commercial bone cement. However, the bending modulus is reduced by 10%. Moreover, the 10% MSN bone cement was cytocompatible with 3T3 mouse fibroblasts, showing 96% cell viability in 3T3 mouse.

Carbon nanotubes (CNT) were also tested for enhancing gentamicin release from PMMA bone cement. Although 5% (CNT) loaded bone cement lead to 75% release of gentamicin for 60 days, the compressive strength is reduced by 90% compared with the commercial

bone cement. Furthermore, CNT showed high toxicity to 3T3 mouse fibroblasts with 85% cell viability. Cytotoxicity of CNT is among the most concerns for its application in biological systems and it has also attracted more attention in recent investigation [147]. In the same work, hydroxyapatite nano-rods (HAP) were loaded with gentamicin by wet impregnation and loaded into PMMA bone cement at 32% concentration. At this concentration, 75% gentamicin was released over 60 days. Despite low cytotoxicity of HAP, as it is one of major compositions of bone structure, the compressive strength is decreased by 50% compared to the commercial bone cement.

In another study, clay nanotubes Halloysite is used to improve gentamicin release from PMMA bone cement [144]. Halloysite is a naturally occurring nanotube with a length of 500– 1000 nm, diameter of 50 nm, and lumen of 15 nm. Therefore, it is highly biocompatible as confirmed by blue cell essays on HeLa and MCF-7 cell lines [148]. PMMA bone cement was loaded with 5-8% Halloysite and with 10-15% gentamicin. The release profile was characterised by burst in the first few days. After that, gentamicin release slowly continued for 250 hours. Furthermore, the addition of 5-7% Halloysite nanotubes improves the tensile strength and adhesive properties, except for flexural strength which is slightly reduced with higher concentration such as is 5% which gives both higher tensile strength and good flexural properties. Table 5 summarizes the mechanical properties of previously mentioned nanocomposites and Table 6 is a list of different nanotechnology based antibiotic loaded PMMA bone cements.

3.3 Non-antibiotic based antimicrobial bone cements

Quaternary ammonium compounds attracted research because of their antimicrobial properties and stable structure [149]. Chitosan quaternary ammonium nanoparticles impregnated bone cement showed antimicrobial activity against viable bacterial at a concentration of 15% w/w [150]. In another study, hydroxypropyl trimethyl ammonium chloride chitosan loaded (HACC) bone cement inhibited biofilms caused by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus strains showing *in vitro* release for 120 hours [151], with enhanced

physical and osteogenic properties [152]. HACC-loaded bone cement was further evaluated in *vivo* for the treatment of Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus epidermidis* infection of the tibial metaphysis in a rabbit model, and exhibited effectiveness in the inhibition of bone infections [153]. One quaternary ammonium dendrimer of tripropylene glycol diacrylate (TPGDA) was mixed with bone cement at a concentration of 10%. At this concentration, TPGDA modified bone cement showed antimicrobial activity for 30 days. In addition, the dendrimer bone cement composite was potent to kill 108 CFU/mL of bacteria on regular intervals of 5 days for a month. However, the addition of dendrimer resulted in a reduction of compressive strength (>15%) compared to the original sample. Furthermore, the MTT assay for the dendrimer modified bone cement showed 12.5% reduction in the viable cells compared to the control, and cytotoxicity needs to be further determined [149]. Table 7 summarizes some examples of antimicrobial bone cements with potential application in total joint arthroplasties.

Quaternary ammonium chitosan derivative nanoparticles (QCS) achieved a 103-fold reduction in the number of viable bacterial cells upon contact with the surface when added at concentration of 15% to bone cement. Chitosan in the form of nanoparticles is better in preserving the mechanical properties of the bone cement compared to powdered chitosan, i.e. Young modulus and bending modulus is >90% of the original bone cement values. When the CS (powder not NP) loading was decreased to 15%, the Young's modulus and bending modulus are about 90% of the corresponding properties of the original bone cement. This can be explained by the homogenous distribution of nanoparticles inside the bone cement matrix, which minimizes the macroscopic cracks in cement mantle. QCS nanoparticles showed higher antimicrobial activity compared to chitosan nanoparticles at the same concentration, where the viable cell number declined by about three orders and two orders of magnitude, respectively. However, The MTT assay showed that there is no significant difference in cytotoxicity between the CS NP, QCS NP and the non-toxic control [150].

Silver nanoparticles have many applications in medical field as safe and effective antimicrobial agents, such as bandages, catheters and surgical scrubs. However, systemic administration of silver nanoparticles can cause various health problems when it reaches toxic levels in different body organs [154]. Consequently, local delivery of silver may decrease the adverse effects of high silver levels in the blood. Oei et al. (2012) [155] investigated the antimicrobial properties of a PMMA bone cement impregnated with silver nanoparticles. Despite in vitro release of silver ions for 28 days and broad spectrum antimicrobial activity, the mechanical properties of bone cement was negatively affected at the concentration used (1% w/w) and showed lower bending modulus. Silver nanoparticles prepared with different capping agents were studied for bone cement impregnation. Prokopovich et al. (2015) [156], reported a broad spectrum antimicrobial activity of silver nanoparticles capped with oleic acid at low concentrations of 0.05 w/w %, without affecting the mechanical properties and cytotoxicity of the bone cement. Similar preferable antimicrobial and mechanical properties were identified when silver nanoparticles capped with tiopronin were impregnated in PMMA bone cement at a concentration of 0.1 w/w % [157].

In another study, Perni *et al.* (2015) [158] developed a propyl paraben nanoparticle loaded bone cement at a concentration of 7% w/w. Nanoparticles at this concentration exhibited wide spectrum antimicrobial killing with no detrimental effect on mechanical properties and cytocompatibility.

4 Drug delivery systems and nano-formulations for potential use in bone cements

Some approaches to prolong drug release have been conducted but efficacy has not been tested in bone cement yet (Table 8). One of the novel approaches for enhancing the delivery of aminoglycoside antibiotics is Layer by Layer assembly (LbL). LbL has numerous applications in drug delivery [159]. This coating technique is a versatile method and involves

the deposition of alternative oppositely charged polyelectrolytes on different substrates, allowing control of the thickness and composition of coating at nanoscale level in a reproducible manner [160,161]. Tamanna et al. (2015) [162] managed to control the release of gentamicin from gentamicin loaded mesoporous silica nanoparticles coated using LbL technique. The coating polyelectrolytes were polystyrene sulfonate (PSS) and poly (allylamine hydrochloride) (PAH). The coated layer controlled drug release for 10 days with no burst release compared to the same gentamicin loaded nanoparticles without coating. In another work, Lichter & Rubner (2016) [163] developed an antimicrobial LbL assembly without the addition of biocidal species, by optimizing the conditions during and after layers deposition in order to expose the cationic charges needed for antimicrobial activity. Multilayers of PAH, PSS and poly(acrylic acid) (PAA) were constructed at high pH and subsequently immersed in low pH solutions, which showed antimicrobial activity against S. epidermidis and E. coli. In a similar work, Kovačević et. al. (2016) [164] studied the changes in surface material properties by using LbL coating, and their effect on the bacterial adhesion of P. aeruginosa. Multilayers of PAH and PSS were built on the silica surface, where the polyelectrolyte multilayers terminating with negatively charged polyelectrolyte showed less bacterial adhesion on the surface.

Mu *et al.* (2016) [165] evaluated the antimicrobial properties of phosphatidylcholinedecorated Au nanoparticles loaded with gentamicin (size 180 nm), which showed broad spectrum activity and inhibition of biofilm formation. The presence of phosphatidylcholine on the surface facilitated the electrostatic binding of gentamicin. The nanoparticles were more efficient in the inhibition of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilm, when compared to gentamicin or phosphatidylcholine Au nanoparticles without gentamicin. Gentamicin release continued for 7 days in buffer media pH 7.4, and the loading efficiency was 38µg/ml (gentamicin/Au). Cytocompatibility studies were done using RAW 264.7 cells and the nanoparticles were nontoxic and can be engulfed by macrophages.

Fan *et al.* (2016) [166] loaded chlorhexidine on Ca-silicate mesoporous nanoparticles (size 78.6 nm) using mixing-coupling technique. The nanoparticles were able to release chlorhexidine as well as Ca²⁺ and silicate²⁻ ions for up to 9 days in simulated body fluids. They showed antimicrobial activity against *Enterococcus faecalis* which is commonly reported to be involved in root canal infection. The nanoparticles did not show any negative effect on cell proliferation and showed in *vivo* mineralization effect, which give them the potential to be used in intra-canal defects or bone infections.

Poly (lactide-co-glycide) (PLGA) is hydrophobic biodegradable and biocompatible polymer that is approved for clinical use. Abdelgahany *et al.* (2012) [167] prepared gentamicin PLGA nanoparticles through emulsion evaporation method, using two approaches: water/oil/water and solid/oil/water. The size for the nanoparticles were 251 nm and 359 nm, respectively, with loading efficiency reached up to 22.4 µg/ml. Gentamicin release from the nanoparticles continued for up to 16 days at pH 7.4. In addition, the nanoparticles showed antimicrobial activity against *P. aeruginosa* planktonic bacteria and biofilms, as well as in *vivo* infected mice model.

Kurtjak *et al.* (2016) [168] loaded gallium nanoparticles (size 22nm) into hydroxyapatite nano-rods bioactive composite through ultrasonic emulsification. The gallium nanocomposite showed better antimicrobial properties against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, when compared to silver nanocomposite, as illustrated by microdilution assay and MIC determination. Also, gallium nanoparticles had lower toxicity for human lung fibroblast and mouse fibroblasts.

5 Conclusion

The currently used ALBCs have many limitations in terms of antimicrobial performance and elution of antibiotics from PMMA matrix. In addition, there is a need for the development of new antimicrobial agents and antibiotic delivery systems to overcome the emergence of resistant bacterial strains encountered in PJIs. The use of nanotechnology in antimicrobial

treatment is attracting more attention in literature. As a result, its application in ALPC is increasing to improve the properties of bone cement and its antimicrobial performance. The field of nanotechnology based antimicrobial medicine and its application in ALBC is still in its infancy, and not well researched as the case in nano-cancer medicine and cardiovascular drug targeting. However, nanotechnology shows promising results in improving antibiotic release and the antimicrobial properties of PMMA bone cement, while preserving its other characteristics needed for physiological performance. The ideal ALBC should sustain the release of antibiotic or antimicrobial agent at high concentration for > 30 days to prevent early and delayed onset postsurgical infections. At the same time, the addition of the antimicrobial species should not compromise the mechanical properties of bone cement, and it's cytocompatibility with the surrounding tissue. The incorporation of gentamicin loaded MSN in the bone cement is a clear example of how a nanotechnology-based approach improved the release kinetics of gentamicin to reach extended release for 80 days, whilst preserving the mechanical properties and cytocompatibility of the bone cement [143].

6 Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge Philadelphia University in Jordan for providing a PhD studentship for Yazan AI Thaher.

7 References

- [1] Tiwari M. Nano cancer therapy strategies. J Cancer Res Ther 2012;8:19–22.
- [2] Chaudhary H, Kohli K, Kumar V. A novel nano-carrier transdermal gel against inflammation. Int J Pharm 2014;465:175–86
- [3] McLendon JM, Joshi SR, Sparks J, Matar M, Fewell JG, Abe K, et al. Lipid nanoparticle delivery of a microRNA-145 inhibitor improves experimental pulmonary hypertension. J Controlled Release 2015;210:67–75.
- [4] Huh AJ, Kwon YJ. "Nanoantibiotics": a new paradigm for treating infectious diseases using nanomaterials in the antibiotics resistant era. J Control Release Off J Control Release Soc 2011;156:128–45.
- [5] Kim L, Montejano LB, Cao Z, Zhao Y, Ang D. Health care costs in US patients with and without a diagnosis of osteoarthritis. J Pain Res 2012;5:23–30.
- [6] Johnson VL, Hunter DJ. The epidemiology of osteoarthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2014;28:5–15.
- [7] Litwic A, Edwards MH, Dennison EM, Cooper C. Epidemiology and burden of osteoarthritis. Br Med Bull 2013;105:185–99..
- [8] Conaghan PG, Porcheret M, Kingsbury SR, Gammon A, Soni A, Hurley M, et al. Impact and therapy of osteoarthritis: the Arthritis Care OA Nation 2012 survey. Clin Rheumatol 2015;34:1581–8.
- [9] Cram P, Lu X, Kates SL, Singh JA, Li Y, Wolf BR. Total knee arthroplasty volume, utilization, and outcomes among medicare beneficiaries, 1991-2010. JAMA - J Am Med Assoc 2012;308:1227–36.

- [10] Singh JA, Dohm M, Sprowson AP, Wall PD, Richards BL, Gossec L, et al. Outcome domains and measures in total joint replacement clinical trials: Can we harmonize them? An OMERACT collaborative initiative. J Rheumatol 2015;42:2496–502.
- [11] Wang K, Street A, Dowrick A, Liew S. Clinical outcomes and patient satisfaction following total joint replacement in haemophilia - 23-year experience in knees, hips and elbows. Haemophilia 2012;18:86–93.
- [12] NJR. National joint registery 12th annual report 2015. http://www.njrcentre.org.uk/njrcentre/Portals/0/Documents/England/Reports/12th%20a nnual%20report/NJR%20Online%20Annual%20Report%202015.pdf.
- [13] Skyttä ET, Jarkko L, Antti E, Huhtala H, Ville R. Increasing incidence of hip arthroplasty for primary osteoarthritis in 30- to 59-year-old patients. Acta Orthop 2011;82:1–5.
- Kurtz S, Mowat F, Ong K, Chan N, Lau E, Halpern M. Prevalence of primary and revision total hip and knee arthroplasty in the United States from 1990 through 2002. J Bone Jt Surg - Ser A 2005;87:1487–97.
- [15] Bumpass DB, Nunley RM. Assessing the value of a total joint replacement. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 2012;5:274–82.
- [16] Maradit K, Larson DR, Crowson CS, Kremers WK, Washington RE, Steiner CA, et al. Prevalence of Total Hip and Knee Replacement in the United States. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2015;97:1386–97.
- [17] Liddle AD, Judge A, Pandit H, Murray DW. Adverse outcomes after total and unicompartmental knee replacement in 101330 matched patients: A study of data from the National Joint Registry for England and Wales. The Lancet 2014;384:1437– 45.

- [18] Kurtz SM, Lau E, Ong K, Zhao K, Kelly M, Bozic KJ. Future young patient demand for primary and revision joint replacement: National projections from 2010 to 2030. Clin Orthop 2009;467:2606–12.
- [19] Patel A, Pavlou G, Mújica-Mota RE, Toms AD. The epidemiology of revision total knee and hip arthroplasty in England and Wales: A comparative analysis with projections for the United States. a study using the national joint registry dataset. Bone Jt J 2015;97-B:1076–81.
- [20] Pabinger C, Berghold A, Boehler N, Labek G. Revision rates after knee replacement. Cumulative results from worldwide clinical studies versus joint registers. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2013;21:263–8.
- [21] Labek G, Thaler M, Janda W, Agreiter M, Stöckl B. Revision rates after total joint replacement. J Bone Jt Surg Br 2011;93-B:293–7.
- [22] Ong KL, Lau E, Suggs J, Kurtz SM, Manley MT. Risk of subsequent revision after primary and revision total joint arthroplasty. Clin Orthop 2010;468:3070–6.
- [23] Patel PD, Klika AK, Murray TG, Elsharkawy KA, Krebs VE, Barsoum WK. Influence of technique with distally fixed modular stems in revision total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2010;25:926–31.
- [24] Greidanus NV, Peterson RC, Masri BA, Garbuz DS. Quality of Life Outcomes in Revision Versus Primary Total Knee Arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2011;26:615–20.
- [25] Kallala RF, Vanhegan IS, Ibrahim MS, Sarmah S, Haddad FS. Financial analysis of revision knee surgery based on NHS tariffs and hospital costs. Bone Jt J 2015;97-B:197–201.
- [26] Maradit K, Visscher SL, Moriarty JP, Reinalda MS, Kremers WK, Naessens JM, et al. Determinants of direct medical costs in primary and revision total knee arthroplasty knee. Clin Orthop 2013;471:206–14.

- [27] Bhandari M, Smith J, Miller LE, Block JE. Clinical and economic burden of revision knee arthroplasty. Clin Med Insights Arthritis Musculoskelet Disord 2012;5:89–94.
- [28] Vanhegan IS, Morgan-Jones R, Barrett DS, Haddad FS. Developing a strategy to treat established infection in total knee replacement. J Bone Jt Surg Br 2012;94-B:875–81.
- [29] Cobo J, Del P. Prosthetic joint infection: Diagnosis and management. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther 2011;9:787–802.
- [30] Zimmerli W, Trampuz A, Ochsner PE. Current concepts: Prosthetic-joint infections. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1645–54.
- [31] Kurtz SM, Lau E, Watson H, Schmier JK, Parvizi J. Economic burden of periprosthetic joint infection in the united states. J Arthroplasty 2012;27:61–5.e1.
- [32] Lamagni T. Epidemiology and burden of prosthetic joint infections. J Antimicrob Chemother 2014;69:i5–10.
- [33] N.H.S. choices, 2014. Hip replacement How it is done NHS Choices [Online] Available at: http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Hip-replacement/Pages/How-it-isperformed.aspx [Accessed: 7 March 2016].
- [34] Magnan B, Bondi M, Maluta T, Samaila E, Schirru L, Dall'Oca C. Acrylic bone cement: Current concept review. Musculoskelet Surg 2013;97:93–100.
- [35] Choy W-S, Yang D-S, Lee K-W, Lee S-K, Kim K-J, Chang S-H. Cemented versus cementless fixation of a tibial component in LCS mobile-bearing total knee arthroplasty performed by a single surgeon. J Arthroplasty 2014;29:2397–401.
- Bidolegui F, Arce G, Lugones A, Pereira S, Vindver G. Tranexamic Acid Reduces
 Blood Loss and Transfusion in Patients Undergoing Total Knee Arthroplasty without
 Tourniquet: A Prospective Randomized Controlled Trial. Open Orthop J 2014;8:250–
 4.

- [37] Demey G, Servien E, Lustig S, Si S, Neyret P. Cemented versus uncemented femoral components in total knee arthroplasty. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2011;19:1053–9.
- [38] Kendrick BJL, Kaptein BL, Valstar ER, Gill HS, Jackson WFM, Dodd C a. F, et al. Cemented versus cementless Oxford unicompartmental knee arthroplasty using radiostereometric analysis: a randomised controlled trial. Bone Jt J 2015;97-B:185– 91.
- [39] Zhang L, Ge S, Liu H, Wang Q, Wang L, Xian CJ. Contact damage failure analyses of fretting wear behavior of the metal stem titanium alloy–bone cement interface. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2015;51:132–46.
- [40] Kallala R, Anderson P, Morris S, Haddad FS. The cost analysis of cemented versus cementless total hip replacement operations on the NHS. Bone Jt J 2013;95-B:874–6.
- [41] SHA. Swedish Hip Arthroplasty. Register 2013. http://www.shpr.se/en/ (accessed July 3, 2016).
- [42] NAR. The Norwegian Arthroplasty Register 2010. http://nrlweb.ihelse.net/eng/default.htm.
- [43] Crowder AR, Duffy GP, Trousdale RT. Long-term results of total knee arthroplasty in young patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Arthroplasty 2005;20:12–6.
- [44] Gill GS, Chan KC, Mills DM. 5- to 18-year follow-up study of cemented total knee arthroplasty for patients 55 years old or younger. J Arthroplasty 1997;12:49–54.
- [45] Ritter MA, Lutgring JD, Davis KE, Faris PM, Berend ME. Total knee arthroplasty effectiveness in patients 55 years old and younger: osteoarthritis vs. rheumatoid arthritis. The Knee 2007;14:9–11.

- [46] Vessely MB, Whaley AL, Harmsen WS, Schleck CD, Berry DJ. The Chitranjan Ranawat Award: Long-term survivorship and failure modes of 1000 cemented condylar total knee arthroplasties. Clin Orthop 2006;452:28–34.
- [47] Font-Rodriguez DE, Scuderi GR, Insall JN. Survivorship of cemented total knee arthroplasty. Clin Orthop 1997:79–86.
- [48] Barrack RL, Nakamura SJ, Hopkins SG, Rosenzweig S. Winner of the 2003 James A. Rand Young Investigator's Award. Early failure of cementless mobile-bearing total knee arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2004;19:101–6.
- [49] Rorabeck CH. Total knee replacement: Should it be cemented or hybrid? Can J Surg 1999;42:21–6.
- [50] Rand JA, Trousdale RT, Ilstrup DM, Harmsen WS. Factors affecting the durability of primary total knee prostheses. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2003;85-A:259–65.
- [51] Berry DJ, Harmsen WS, Cabanela ME, Morrey BF. Twenty-five-year survivorship of two thousand consecutive primary Charnley total hip replacements: factors affecting survivorship of acetabular and femoral components. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2002;84-A:171–7.
- [52] Sochart DH, Porter ML. The long-term results of Charnley low-friction arthroplasty in young patients who have congenital dislocation, degenerative osteoarthrosis, or rheumatoid arthritis. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1997;79:1599–617.
- [53] Tsukada S, Wakui M. A Case Series of Total Hip Arthroplasty Using Cementless Hip Stem Customized for Patients of a Specific Race: 10- to 15-Year Results. J Arthroplasty 2016;31:190–3.
- [54] Emerson RH, Head WC, Emerson CB, Rosenfeldt W, Higgins LL. A comparison of cemented and cementless titanium femoral components used for primary total hip arthroplasty: a radiographic and survivorship study. J Arthroplasty 2002;17:584–91.

- [55] Liu X-W, Zi Y, Xiang L-B, Wang Y. Total hip arthroplasty: areview of advances, advantages and limitations. Int J Clin Exp Med 2015;8:27–36.
- [56] Wyatt M, Hooper G, Frampton C, Rothwell A. Survival outcomes of cemented compared to uncemented stems in primary total hip replacement. World J Orthop 2014;5:591–6.
- [57] Vaishya R, Chauhan M, Vaish A. Bone cement. J Clin Orthop Trauma 2013;4:157–63.
- [58] Boner V, Kuhn P, Mendel T, Gisep A. Temperature evaluation during PMMA screw augmentation in osteoporotic bone-an in vitro study about the risk of thermal necrosis in human femoral heads. J Biomed Mater Res - Part B Appl Biomater 2009;90 B:842– 8.
- [59] O'Brien D, Boyd D, Madigan S, Murphy S. Evaluation of a novel radiopacifiying agent on the physical properties of surgical spineplex®. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2010;21:53– 8.
- [60] Nien Y-H, Chen J. Studies of the mechanical and thermal properties of cross-linked poly(methylmethacrylate-acrylic acid-allylmethacrylate)-modified bone cement. J Appl Polym Sci 2006;100:3727–32.
- [61] Freemont A. The pathology of joint replacement and tissue engineering. Diagn Histopathol 2012;18:169–76.
- [62] Oonishi H. A long term histological analysis of effect of interposed hydroxyapatite between bone and bone cement in THA and TKA. J Long Term Eff Med Implants 2012;22:165–76.
- [63] Ni GX, Choy YS, Lu WW, Ngan AHW, Chiu KY, Li ZY, *et al.* Nano-mechanics of bone and bioactive bone cement interfaces in a load-bearing model. Biomaterials 2006;27:1963–70.

- [64] Zhang J, Liu W, Schnitzler V, Tancret F, Bouler J-M. Calcium phosphate cements for bone substitution: Chemistry, handling and mechanical properties. Acta Biomater 2014;10:1035–49.
- [65] Ambard AJ, Mueninghoff L. Calcium phosphate cement: Review of mechanical and biological properties. J Prosthodont 2006;15:321–8.
- [66] Krüger R, Groll J. Fiber reinforced calcium phosphate cements On the way to degradable load bearing bone substitutes? Biomaterials 2012;33:5887–900.
- [67] Yu T, Ye J, Gao C, Yu L, Wang Y. Effect of biomedical organic compounds on the setting reaction of calcium phosphates. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 2010;75:363–9.
- [68] Chen S-Y, Ou S-F, Teng N-C, Kung C-M, Tsai H-L, Chu K-T, *et al.* Phase transformation on bone cement: Monocalcium phosphate monohydrate into calciumdeficient hydroxyapatite during setting. Ceram Int 2013;39:2451–5.
- [69] Schwarz MLR, Kowarsch M, Rose S, Becker K, Lenz T, Jani L. Effect of surface roughness, porosity, and a resorbable calcium phosphate coating on osseointegration of titanium in a minipig model. J Biomed Mater Res - Part A 2009;89:667–78.
- [70] Habraken WJEM, Wolke JGC, Jansen JA. Ceramic composites as matrices and scaffolds for drug delivery in tissue engineering. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2007;59:234–48.
- [71] Ginebra M-P, Canal C, Espanol M, Pastorino D, Montufar EB. Calcium phosphate cements as drug delivery materials. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2012;64:1090–110.
- [72] Cannillo V, Colmenares-Angulo J, Lusvarghi L, Pierli F, Sampath S. In vitro characterisation of plasma-sprayed apatite/wollastonite glass–ceramic biocoatings on titanium alloys. J Eur Ceram Soc 2009;29:1665–77.
- [73] Kokubo T, Kim H-M, Kawashita M. Novel bioactive materials with different mechanical properties. Biomaterials 2003;24:2161–75

- [74] Neo M, Kotani S, Nakamura T, Yamamuro T, Ohtsuki C, Kokubo T, et al. A comparative study of ultrastructures of the interfaces between four kinds of surfaceactive ceramic and bone. J Biomed Mater Res 1992;26:1419–32.
- [75] Dickey BT, Kehoe S, Boyd D. Novel adaptations to zinc–silicate glass polyalkenoate cements: The unexpected influences of germanium based glasses on handling characteristics and mechanical properties. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2013;23:8– 21.
- [76] Boyd D, Clarkin OM, Wren AW, Towler MR. Zinc-based glass polyalkenoate cements with improved setting times and mechanical properties. Acta Biomater 2008;4:425–31.
- [77] Nourmohammadi J, Sadrnezhaad SK, Behnam G. Bone-like apatite layer formation on the new resin-modified glass-ionomer cement. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2008;19:3507– 14.
- [78] Cook WD, Forrest M, Goodwin AA. A simple method for the measurement of polymerization shrinkage in dental composites. Dent Mater 1999;15:447–9.
- [79] Kenny SM, Buggy M. Bone cements and fillers: A review. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2003;14:923–38.
- [80] Fsadni C, Fsadni P. Prosthetic joint infections. Malta Med J 2013;25:15–20.
- [81] Zimmerli W, Ochsner PE. Management of infection associated with prosthetic joints. Infection 2003;31:99–108.
- [82] Trampuz A, Widmer AF. Infections associated with orthopedic implants. Curr Opin Infect Dis 2006;19:349–56.
- [83] Trampuz A, Zimmerli W. Prosthetic joint infections: Update in diagnosis and treatment. Swiss Med Wkly 2005;135:243–51.

- [84] Strange S, Whitehouse MR, Beswick AD, Board T, Burston A, Burston B, et al. Onestage or two-stage revision surgery for prosthetic hip joint infection - the INFORM trial: A study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials 2016;17.
- [85] Buller LT, Sabry FY, Easton RW, Klika AK, Barsoum WK. The Preoperative Prediction of Success Following Irrigation and Debridement With Polyethylene Exchange for Hip and Knee Prosthetic Joint Infections. J Arthroplasty 2012;27:857–64.e4.
- [86] Brimmo O, Ramanathan D, Schiltz NK, Pillai ALPC, Klika AK, Barsoum WK. Irrigation and Debridement Before a 2-Stage Revision Total Knee Arthroplasty Does Not Increase Risk of Failure. J Arthroplasty 2016;31:461–4.
- [87] Zahar A, Webb J, Gehrke T, Kendoff D. One-stage exchange for prosthetic joint infection of the hip. HIP Int 2015;25:301–7.
- [88] Vielgut I, Sadoghi P, Wolf M, Holzer L, Leithner A, Schwantzer G, et al. Two-stage revision of prosthetic hip joint infections using antibiotic-loaded cement spacers: When is the best time to perform the second stage? Int Orthop 2015;39:1731–6.
- [89] Aslam S, Darouiche RO. Prosthetic joint infections. Curr Infect Dis Rep 2012;14:551–7.
- [90] Masters JPM, Smith NA, Foguet P, Reed M, Parsons H, Sprowson AP. A systematic review of the evidence for single stage and two stage revision of infected knee replacement. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2013;14. doi:10.1186/1471-2474-14-222.
- [91] Ritter MA, Farris A. Outcome of infected total joint replacement. Orthopedics 2010;33.
- [92] Stammers J, Kahane S, Ranawat V, Miles J, Pollock R, Carrington RWJ, *et al.* Outcomes of infected revision knee arthroplasty managed by two-stage revision in a tertiary referral centre. The Knee 2015;22:56–62
- [93] Romanò CL, Gala L, Logoluso N, Romanò D, Drago L. Two-stage revision of septic knee prosthesis with articulating knee spacers yields better infection eradication rate

than one-stage or two-stage revision with static spacers. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J ESSKA 2012;20:2445–53.

- [94] Cooper HJ, Valle CJD. The two-stage standard in revision total hip replacement. Bone Jt J 2013;95-B:84–7.
- [95] Haddad FS, Masri BA, Campbell D, McGraw RW, Beauchamp CP, Duncan CP. The PROSTALAC functional spacer in two-stage revision for infected knee replacements. J Bone Jt Surg - Ser B 2000;82:807–12.
- [96] Jaekel DJ, Day JS, Klein GR, Levine H, Parvizi J, Kurtz SM. Do dynamic cement-oncement knee spacers provide better function and activity during two-stage exchange? Clin Orthop 2012;470:2599–604.
- [97] Anagnostakos K, Fürst O, Kelm J. Antibiotic-impregnated PMMA hip spacers: Current status. Acta Orthop 2006;77:628–37.
- [98] Parvizi J, Saleh KJ, Ragland PS, Pour AE, Mont MA. Efficacy of antibioticimpregnated cement in total hip replacement. Acta Orthop 2008;79:335–41.
- [99] Engesaeter LB, Espehaug B, Lie SA, Furnes O, Havelin LI. Does cement increase the risk of infection in primary total hip arthroplasty? Revision rates in 56,275 cemented and uncemented primary THAs followed for 0-16 years in the Norwegian Arthroplasty Register. Acta Orthop 2006;77:351–8.
- [100] Malik MHA, Chougle A, Pradhan N, Gambhir AK, Porter ML. Primary total knee replacement: a comparison of a nationally agreed guide to best practice and current surgical technique as determined by the North West Regional Arthroplasty Register. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2005;87:117–22.
- [101] Robertsson O, Knutson K, Lewold S, Lidgren L. The Swedish Knee Arthroplasty Register 1975-1997: an update with special emphasis on 41,223 knees operated on in 1988-1997. Acta Orthop Scand 2001;72:503–13.

- [102] Srivastav AK, Nadkarni B, Srivastav S, Mittal V, Agarwal S. Prophylactic use of antibiotic-loaded bone cement in primary total knee arthroplasty: Justified or not? Indian J Orthop 2009;43:259–63.
- [103] Chiang C-C, Chiu F-Y. Cefuroxime-impregnated cement and systemic cefazolin for 1 week in primary total knee arthroplasty: An evaluation of 2700 knees. J Chin Med Assoc 2012;75:167–70.
- [104] Dunbar MJ. Antibiotic bone cements: their use in routine primary total joint arthroplasty is justified. Orthopedics 2009;32.
- [105] Espehaug B, Furnes O, Havelin LI, Engesaeter LB, Vollset SE. The type of cement and failure of total hip replacements. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2002;84:832–8.
- [106] Nandi SK, Mukherjee P, Roy S, Kundu B, De DK, Basu D. Local antibiotic delivery systems for the treatment of osteomyelitis – A review. Mater Sci Eng C 2009;29:2478– 85.
- [107] Tan HL, Lin WT, Tang TT. The use of antimicrobial-impregnated PMMA to manage periprosthetic infections: controversial issues and the latest developments. Int J Artif Organs 2012;35:832–9.
- [108] Chandrika NT, Garneau-Tsodikova S. A review of patents (2011–2015) towards combating resistance to and toxicity of aminoglycosides. MedChemComm 2016;7:50–68.
- [109] Meyer J, Piller G, Spiegel CA, Hetzel S, Squire M. Vacuum-mixing significantly changes antibiotic elution characteristics of commercially available antibioticimpregnated bone cements. J Bone Jt Surg - Ser A 2011;93:2049–56.
- [110] Lewis G, Janna S. Estimation of the optimum loading of an antibiotic powder in an acrylic bone cement: Gentamicin sulfate in SmartSet HV. Acta Orthop 2006;77:622–7.

- [111] Lewis G. Properties of antibiotic-loaded acrylic bone cements for use in cemented arthroplasties: A state-of-the-art review. J Biomed Mater Res - Part B Appl Biomater 2009;89:558–74.
- [112] Anagnostakos K, Kelm J. Enhancement of antibiotic elution from acrylic bone cement.J Biomed Mater Res Part B Appl Biomater 2009;90 B:467–75.
- [113] Scott CP, Higham PA. Antibiotic Bone Cement for the Treatment of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa in Joint Arthroplasty: Comparison of Tobramycin and Gentamicin-Loaded Cements. J Biomed Mater Res - Part B Appl Biomater 2003;64:94–8.
- [114] Jackson J, Leung F, Duncan C, Mugabe C, Burt H. The use of bone cement for the localized, controlled release of the antibiotics vancomycin, linezolid, or fusidic acid: Effect of additives on drug release rates and mechanical strength. Drug Deliv Transl Res 2011;1:121–31.
- [115] Duey RE, Chong AC, McQueen DA, Womack JL, Song Z, Steinberger TA, et al. Mechanical properties and elution characteristics of polymethylmethacrylate bone cement impregnated with antibiotics for various surface area and volume constructs. Iowa Orthop J 2012;32:104–15.
- [116] Penner MJ, Duncan CP, Masri BA. The in vitro elution characteristics of antibioticloaded CMW and Palacos-R bone cements. J Arthroplasty 1999;14:209–14.
- [117] Gálvez-López R, Peña-Monje A, Antelo-Lorenzo R, Guardia-Olmedo J, Moliz J, Hernández-Quero J, *et al.* Elution kinetics, antimicrobial activity, and mechanical properties of 11 different antibiotic loaded acrylic bone cement. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2014;78:70–4.
- [118] Dunne NJ, Orr JF. Influence of mixing techniques on the physical properties of acrylic bone cement. Biomaterials 2001;22:1819–26.

- [119] Xu HHK, Quinn JB, Takagi S, Chow LC, Eichmiller FC. Strong and macroporous calcium phosphate cement: Effects of porosity and fiber reinforcement on mechanical properties. J Biomed Mater Res 2001;57:457–66.
- [120] Buttaro MA, Gimenez MI, Greco G, Barcan L, Piccaluga F. High active local levels of vancomycin without nephrotoxicity released from impacted bone allografts in 20 revision hip arthroplasties. Acta Orthop 2005;76:336–40.
- [121] Dunne NJ, Hill J, McAfee P, Kirkpatrick R, Patrick S, Tunney M. Incorporation of large amounts of gentamicin sulphate into acrylic bone cement: effect on handling and mechanical properties, antibiotic release, and biofilm formation. Proc Inst Mech Eng [H] 2008;222:355–65.
- [122] Moojen DJF, Hentenaar B, Charles Vogely H, Verbout AJ, Castelein RM, Dhert WJA. In Vitro Release of Antibiotics from Commercial PMMA Beads and Articulating Hip Spacers. J Arthroplasty 2008;23:1152–6.
- [123] Squire MW, Ludwig BJ, Thompson JR, Jagodzinski J, Hall D, Andes D. Premixed Antibiotic Bone Cement: An In Vitro Comparison of Antimicrobial Efficacy. J Arthroplasty 2008;23:110–4.
- [124] Gasparini G, De G, Calonego G, Bora TD, Caroleo B, Galasso O. Drug elution from high-dose antibiotic-loaded acrylic cement: A comparative, in vitro study. Orthopedics 2014;37:e999–1005.
- [125] Van de B, Neut D, Schenk W, Van H, Van der M, Busscher HJ. Gentamicin release from polymethylmethacrylate bone cements and Staphylococcus aureus biofilm formation. Acta Orthop Scand 2000;71:625–9.
- [126] Dunne N, Hill J, Mcafee P, Todd K, Kirkpatrick R, Tunney M, et al. In vitro study of the efficacy of acrylic bone cement loaded with supplementary amounts of gentamicin: Effect on mechanical properties, antibiotic release, and biofilm formation. Acta Orthop 2007;78:774–85.

- [127] van de Belt H, Neut D, Schenk W, van Horn JR, van Der Mei HC, Busscher HJ. Staphylococcus aureus biofilm formation on different gentamicin-loaded polymethylmethacrylate bone cements. Biomaterials 2001;22:1607–11.
- [128] Campoccia D, Montanaro L, Speziale P, Arciola CR. Antibiotic-loaded biomaterials and the risks for the spread of antibiotic resistance following their prophylactic and therapeutic clinical use. Biomaterials 2010;31:6363–77.
- [129] Fulkerson E, Valle CJD, Wise B, Walsh M, Preston C, Di Cesare PE. Antibiotic susceptibility of bacteria infecting total joint arthroplasty sites. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2006;88:1231–7.
- [130] Sandegren L. Selection of antibiotic resistance at very low antibiotic concentrations. Ups J Med Sci 2014;119:103–7.
- [131] Anguita-Alonso P, Hanssen AD, Osmon DR, Trampuz A, Steckelberg JM, Patel R. High rate of aminoglycoside resistance among staphylococci causing prosthetic joint infection. Clin Orthop 2005;439:43–7.
- [132] Corona PS, Espinal L, Rodríguez-Pardo D, Pigrau C, Larrosa N, Flores X. Antibiotic susceptibility in gram-positive chronic joint arthroplasty infections: increased aminoglycoside resistance rate in patients with prior aminoglycoside-impregnated cement spacer use. J Arthroplasty 2014;29:1617–21.
- [133] Krause WR, Hofmann A. Antibiotic Impregnated Acrylic Bone Cements: A Comparative Study of the Mechanical Properties. J Bioact Compat Polym 1989;4:345–61.
- [134] Lee C. The Mechanical Properties of PMMA Bone Cement. Well-Cem. Total Hip Arthroplasty, Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2005, p. 60–6.
- [135] Paz E, Sanz-Ruiz P, Abenojar J, Vaquero-Martín J, Forriol F, Del Real JC. Evaluation of Elution and Mechanical Properties of High-Dose Antibiotic-Loaded Bone Cement:

Comparative "In Vitro" Study of the Influence of Vancomycin and Cefazolin. J Arthroplasty 2015;30:1423–9.

- [136] Persson C, Baleani M, Guandalini L, Tigani D, Viceconti M. Mechanical effects of the use of vancomycin and meropenem in acrylic bone cement. Acta Orthop 2006;77:617–21.
- [137] He Y, Trotignon JP, Loty B, Tcharkhtchi A, Verdu J. Effect of antibiotics on the properties of poly(methylmethacrylate)-based bone cement. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;63:800–6.
- [138] Sharma A, Arya DK, Dua M, Chhatwal GS, Johri AK. Nano-technology for targeted drug delivery to combat antibiotic resistance. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2012;9:1325–32.
- [139] Kalhapure RS, Suleman N, Mocktar C, Seedat N, Govender T. Nanoengineered Drug Delivery Systems for Enhancing Antibiotic Therapy. J Pharm Sci 2015;104:872–905.
- [140] Zhang L, Pornpattananangku D, Hu C-MJ, Huang C-M. Development of nanoparticles for antimicrobial drug delivery. Curr Med Chem 2010;17:585–94.
- [141] Mansour HM, Rhee Y-S, Wu X. Nanomedicine in pulmonary delivery. Int J Nanomedicine 2009;4:299–319.
- [142] Ayre WN, Birchall JC, Evans SL, Denyer SP. A novel liposomal drug delivery system for PMMA bone cements. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2015:104:1510-24.
- [143] Shen S-C, Ng WK, Dong Y-C, Ng J, Tan RBH. Nanostructured material formulated acrylic bone cements with enhanced drug release. Mater Sci Eng C 2016;58:233–41.
- [144] Wei W, Abdullayev E, Hollister A, Mills D, Lvov YM. Clay Nanotube/Poly(methyl methacrylate) Bone Cement Composites with Sustained Antibiotic Release. Macromol Mater Eng 2012;297:645–53.

- [145] Miller RB, McLaren AC, Leon CM, Vernon BL, McLemore R. Surfactant-stabilized emulsion increases gentamicin elution from bone cement. Clin Orthop 2011;469:2995–3001.
- [146] Ayre WN, Birchall JC, Evans SL, Denyer SP. A novel liposomal drug delivery system for PMMA bone cements. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2015:104:1510-24.
- [147] Firme CP, Bandaru PR. Toxicity issues in the application of carbon nanotubes to biological systems. Nanomedicine Nanotechnol Biol Med 2010;6:245–56.
- [148] Vergaro V, Abdullayev E, Lvov YM, Zeitoun A, Cingolani R, Rinaldi R, et al. Cytocompatibility and uptake of halloysite clay nanotubes. Biomacromolecules 2010;11:820–6.
- [149] Abid CKVZ, Jain S, Jackeray R, Chattopadhyay S, Singh H. Formulation and characterization of antimicrobial quaternary ammonium dendrimer in poly(methyl methcarylate) bone cement. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomate 2017;105(3):521-530
- [150] Shi Z, Neoh KG, Kang ET, Wang W. Antibacterial and mechanical properties of bone cement impregnated with chitosan nanoparticles. Biomaterials 2006;27:2440–9.
- [151] Tan H, Peng Z, Li Q, Xu X, Guo S, Tang T. The use of quaternised chitosan-loaded PMMA to inhibit biofilm formation and downregulate the virulence-associated gene expression of antibiotic-resistant staphylococcus. Biomaterials 2012;33:365–77.
- [152] Tan H, Guo S, Yang S, Xu X, Tang T. Physical characterization and osteogenic activity of the quaternized chitosan-loaded PMMA bone cement. Acta Biomater 2012;8:2166–74.
- [153] Tan H, Ao H, Ma R, Lin W, Tang T. In Vivo Effect of Quaternized Chitosan-Loaded Polymethylmethacrylate Bone Cement on Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus epidermidis Infection of the Tibial Metaphysis in a Rabbit Model. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2014;58:6016–23.

- [154] Ge L, Li Q, Wang M, Ouyang J, Li X, Xing MM. Nanosilver particles in medical applications: synthesis, performance, and toxicity. Int J Nanomedicine 2014;9:2399–407.
- [155] Oei JD, Zhao WW, Chu L, DeSilva MN, Ghimire A, Rawls HR, et al. Antimicrobial acrylic materials with in situ generated silver nanoparticles. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2012;100B:409–15.
- [156] Prokopovich P, Köbrick M, Brousseau E, Perni S. Potent antimicrobial activity of bone cement encapsulating silver nanoparticles capped with oleic acid. J Biomed Mater Res - Part B Appl Biomater 2015;103:273–81.
- [157] Prokopovich P, Leech R, Carmalt CJ, Parkin IP, Perni S. A novel bone cement impregnated with silver-tiopronin nanoparticles: Its antimicrobial, cytotoxic, and mechanical properties. Int J Nanomedicine 2013;8:2227–37.
- [158] Perni S, Thenault V, Abdo P, Margulis K, Magdassi S, Prokopovich P. Antimicrobial activity of bone cements embedded with organic nanoparticles. Int J Nanomedicine 2015;10:6317–29.
- [159] Deshmukh PK, Ramani KP, Singh SS, Tekade AR, Chatap VK, Patil GB, et al. Stimuli-sensitive layer-by-layer (LbL) self-assembly systems: Targeting and biosensory applications. J Controlled Release 2013;166:294–306.
- [160] Ariga K, Lvov YM, Kawakami K, Ji Q, Hill JP. Layer-by-layer self-assembled shells for drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2011;63:762–71.
- [161] Vergaro V, Scarlino F, Bellomo C, Rinaldi R, Vergara D, Maffia M, et al. Drug-loaded polyelectrolyte microcapsules for sustained targeting of cancer cells. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2011;63:847–64.
- [162] Tamanna T, Bulitta JB, Yu A. Controlling antibiotic release from mesoporous silica nano drug carriers via self-assembled polyelectrolyte coating. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2015;26:1–7.

- [163] Lichter JA, Rubner MF. Polyelectrolyte Multilayers with Intrinsic Antimicrobial Functionality: The Importance of Mobile Polycations. Langmuir 2009;25:7686–94.
- [164] Kovačević D, Pratnekar R, Godič Torkar K, Salopek J, Dražić G, Abram A, et al. Influence of Polyelectrolyte Multilayer Properties on Bacterial Adhesion Capacity. Polymers 2016;8:345.
- [165] Mu H, Tang J, Liu Q, Sun C, Wang T, Duan J. Potent Antibacterial Nanoparticles against Biofilm and Intracellular Bacteria. Sci Rep 2016;6:18877.
- [166] Fan W, Li Y, Sun Q, Ma T, Fan B. Calcium-silicate mesoporous nanoparticles loaded with chlorhexidine for both anti- Enterococcus faecalis and mineralization properties. J Nanobiotechnology 2016;14:72.
- [167] Abdelghany SM, Quinn DJ, Ingram RJ, Gilmore BF, Donnelly RF, Taggart CC, et al. Gentamicin-loaded nanoparticles show improved antimicrobial effects towards Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection. Int J Nanomedicine 2012;7:4053–63.
- [168] Kurtjak M, Vukomanović M, Kramer L, Suvorov D. Biocompatible nanogallium/hydroxyapatite nanocomposite with antimicrobial activity. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2016;27:170.
- [169] Higgs WAJ, Lucksanasombool P, Higgs RJED, Swain MV. Comparison of the material properties of PMMA and glass-ionomer based cements for use in orthopaedic surgery. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2001;12:453–60.
- [170] Zhang JT, Tancret F, Bouler JM. Fabrication and mechanical properties of calcium phosphate cements (CPC) for bone substitution. Mater Sci Eng C 2011;31:740–7.
- [171] Lewis G. Properties of acrylic bone cement: State of the art review. J Biomed Mater Res 1997;38:155–82.

- [172] Bertazzoni M, Benini A, Magnan B, Bartolozzi P. Release of gentamicin and vancomycin from temporary human hip spacers in two-stage revision of infected arthroplasty. J Antimicrob Chemother 2004;53:329–34.
- [173] Anagnostakos K, Wilmes P, Schmitt E, Kelm J. Elution of gentamicin and vancomycin from polymethylmethacrylate beads and hip spacers in vivo. Acta Orthop 2009;80:193–7.
- [174] Whittaker JP, Warren RE, Jones RS, Gregson PA. Is prolonged systemic antibiotic treatment essential in two-stage revision hip replacement for chronic Gram-positive infection? J Bone Joint Surg Br 2009;91:44–51.
- [175] Masri BA, Duncan CP, Beauchamp CP. Long-term elution of antibiotics from bonecement: An in vivo study using the prosthesis of antibiotic-loaded acrylic cement (PROSTALAC) system. J Arthroplasty 1998;13:331–8.
- [176] Hsieh P-H, Chen L-H, Chen C-H, Lee MS, Yang W-E, Shih C-H. Two-stage revision hip arthroplasty for infection with a custom-made, antibiotic-loaded, cement prosthesis as an interim spacer. J Trauma 2004;56:1247–52.
- [177] Ha C-W. A technique for intraoperative construction of antibiotic spacers. Clin Orthop 2006;445:204–9.
- [178] Evans RP. Successful treatment of total hip and knee infection with articulating antibiotic components: a modified treatment method. Clin Orthop 2004:37–46.
- [179] Kurd MF, Ghanem E, Steinbrecher J, Parvizi J. Two-stage Exchange Knee Arthroplasty: Does Resistance of the Infecting Organism Influence the Outcome? Clin Orthop Relat Res 2010;468:2060–6.
- [180] Park S-J, Song E-K, Seon J-K, Yoon T-R, Park G-H. Comparison of static and mobile antibiotic-impregnated cement spacers for the treatment of infected total knee arthroplasty. Int Orthop 2010;34:1181–6.

[181] Perni S, Thenault V, Abdo P, Margulis K, Magdassi S, Prokopovich P. Antimicrobial activity of bone cements embedded with organic nanoparticles. Int J Nanomedicine 2015;10.

Tables

Constituent*	Cemex®	Endurance™	Copal®	Palacos®	SmartSet [®]
	XL	Gentamicin		R+G	GHV
	Genta LV				
Liquid					
MMA	98.20	98.00	97.98	97.98	97.50
N,N dimethyl-p-toluidine (DMPT)	1.80	<u><</u> 2.00	2.02	2.02	<u><</u> 2.50
Hydroquinone	75	75	75	75	75
Chlorophyll	-	-	0.002	0.002	-
Powder					
Poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA)	82.78	65.28	-	-	-
Methyl methacrylate (MMA)/styrene	-	18.65	-	-	-
co-polymer					
PMMA/MMA co-polymer	-	-	82.65	82.15	80.46
Benzoyl peroxide (BPO)	3.00	1.85	0.75	0.78	0.96
Barium sulfate	10.00	10.00	-	-	-
Zirconium dioxide	-	-	10.03	15.01	14.37
Gentamicin sulfate	4.22	4.22	3.76	2.06	4.22
Clindamycin hydrochloride	-	-	2.82	-	-
Chlorophyll		-	0.002	0.002	-

*The amount of each constituent of a cement is in wt. /wt. %, except for hydroquinone, which is ppm.

Table 2. Mechanical properties for some bioactive cements, PMMA and human bone (cortical and cancellous bone).

		Strength (MPa)		Young's	Fracture	Reference
		Compressive	Bending	modulus (GPa)	toughness, K _{IC} (MPam ^{1/2})	
Bioglass®	® (45S5)	-	42	35	-	[73]
glass poly	/alkenoate	175.21	-	12.82	0.63	[169]
Hydroxya	patite	39-103	-	4.5-9	0.15-0.5	[170]
Apatite/w	ollastonite	1080	220	118	2.0	[73]
PMMA		73-117	50-125	2.552	1.03-2.32	[134,171]
Human	Cancellous	2-12	-	0.05-0.5	-	[73]
bone	Cortical	100-230	50-150	7-30	2-12	[73]

Table 3. Antibiotic combinations used for the impregnation of PMMA bone cement spacers for hip and knee prosthetic infections.

Reference	Antibiotic combination used per 40g PMMA
[172]	0.76 g gentamicin + 1 g vancomycin
[173,174]	0.25 g gentamicin + 2 g vancomycin
[175]	1.2-4.8 g tobramycin + 1-2 g vancomycin
[176]	4 g vancomycin + 2 g piperacillin
[177–179]	3.6-4.8 g tobramycin + 4 g vancomycin
[180]	4.5 g piperacillin-tazobactam + 2 g vancomycin
	+ 1 g erythromycin

Table 4. Some of the commercially available antibiotic loaded bone cement brands.

Brand	Antibiotics	Antibiotic used per 40g PMMA	Manufacturer
Palacos R+G	Gentamicin	1.0 g	Zimmer
Palacos LV+G	Gentamicin	1.0 g	Zimmer
CMW 1	Gentamicin	1.0 g	DePuy
CMW 2	Gentamicin	1.0 g	DePuy
SmartSet GHV	Gentamicin	1.0 g	DePuy
SmartSet GMV	Gentamicin	1.0 g	DePuy
Simplex P	Tobramycin	1.0 g	Stryker
Copal G+V	Gentamicin + Vancomycin	0.5 g + 2.0 g	Heraeus
Copal G+V	Gentamicin + Clindamycin	1.0 g + 1.0 g	Heraeus

Table 5. Summary of mechanical properties for different PMMA nanocomposites.

	Compressive strength (MPa)	Bending strength (MPa)	Bending Modulus (MPa)	Fracture Toughness (MPam ^{1/2})	Vickers Hardness (MPa)
Liposomes (L31)	80.8	79	3200	3.0	26.6
Mesoporous silica	85	-	2100	-	-
Carbon nano- tubes	8.7	-	-	-	-
Hydroxyapatite nano-rods	43.5	-	-	-	-
Clay nano- tubes	-	35	-	-	-

Table 0 . Summary list of manufectinology based antibiotic loaded Fininia bone cements.
--

Nano-carrier	% of NPs in bone ce- ment	Loading capacity of gentamicin	Dura- tion of release	% of gentami- cin released	Test- ed bacte- ria	Limitation	Referen- ce
Liposomes			30 days	22	S. aureus		[142]
Mesoporous silica	10		80 days	60			[143]
Carbon nano- tubes	5		60 days	75		Cytotoxici- ty, negative impact on mechani- cal properties	[143]
Hydroxyapatit e nano-rods	32		60 days	75		Negative impact on mechani- cal properties	[143]
Clay nano- tubes	5-7	10-15	10 days	60	S. aureus , E. coli	Burst release	[144]

Table 7. Summary list of nanotechnology non-antibiotic based antimicrobial PMMA bone cements.

				[
Type of	%	Dura	% of	Antimic-	Tes-	Mode of	Limitations	Referen-
Antimic-	of	-tion	antimic-	robial	ted	action		се
robial	NP	of	robial	spectrum	bacte-			
nanopar-	s	rele	released		ria			
ticles	in	a-se						
	bo-							
	ne							
	ce-							
	me							
	nt							
Chitosan	15			Broad	S.	Interacti		[150]
				spectrum	aureus,	on with		
				(Gram	S.	negativel		
				positive	epider	y		
				and Gram	midis	charged		
				negatibe)		cell wall		
						and cell		
						lysis.		
QCS	15			Broad	S.	Interacti		[150]
				spectrum	aureus,	on with		
				(Gram	S.	negativel		
				positive	epider	y		
				and Gram	midis	charged		
				negatibe)		cell wall		
						and cell		
						lysis.		
dendrime	10	30		Broad	S.	Interacti	Cytocompa	[149]
r		davs		spectrum	aureus,	on with	tibility	r ~ 1
				(Gram	E coli.	negativel	problems	
				positive	, D	V	FISSISING	
				and Gram	P. .	, charged		
					aerugi	ulaiyeu		

			negatibe)	nosa	cell wall		
					and cell		
					lysis.		
Silver nanoparti cles	1	28 days	Broad spectrum (Gram positive and Gram negatibe)	P. aerugi nosa, A. baum annii, S. aureu s, P. mirabi lis	Ag NPs or Ag ions can interact with DNA replicatio n, respirato ry chain and cell division.	Negative effect on mechanical properties	[155]
oleic acid capped Silver nanoparti cles	0.0		Broad spectrum (Gram positive and Gram negatibe)	S.aur beus MRS A S. epider midis A. baum annii	Ag NPs or Ag ions can interact with DNA replicatio n, respirato ry chain and cell division.		[156]
Tiopronin capped Silver nanoparti cles	0.1		Broad spectrum (Gram positive and Gram negatibe)	MRS A	Ag NPs or Ag ions can interact with DNA replicatio		[157]

Propyl	7	5	Broad	S.aur	n, respirato ry chain and cell division. Inhibition of the	[181]
paraben			spectrum antibacter ial (Gram positive and Gram negatib) and antifungal activity	eus MRS A S. epier midis A. baum annii	synthesis DNA and RNA or ATPases and phosphotr ansferase s	

 Table 8. Nano-formulations with potential use in bone cements.

Nano-carrier	Antimicrobia	Duratio	Loading	Method of	Application	Referenc
system	l loaded	n of	efficienc	preparation		е
		release	у			
LbL coated	Gentamicin	10	211		Promising for	[162]
Mesoporous		Days	μg/mg		future	
silica					applications	
					to coat	
					biomedical	
					device	
					surfaces	
					such as	
					pacemakers	

					and other	
					implanted	
					devices.	
Au	Gentamicin	7 days	38µg/ml			[165]
Ca-silicate	Chlorhexidin	9 days			intra-canal	[166]
	е				medication in	
					dentistry or a	
					new bone	
					defect	
					filling	
					material for	
					infected	
					bone	
					defects.	
PLGA	Gentamicin	16	22 µg/ml	Emulsion	Treating	[167]
		days		evaporation	sepsis and	
					Pseudomona	
					s infections	
Hydroxyapatiti	Gallium		16%	ultrasonic	tissue	[168]
e nano-rods	nanoparticle			emulsificatio	engineering,	
	S			n	wound	
					healing,	
					bone fracture	
					repair,	
					prevention of	
					infections	
					during	
					implantation	

Figure captions

Figure 1 Total joint replacements undertaken during 2014: (a) Hip and (b) Knee prosthesis, adapted from National Joint Registry (NJR 2015).

Figure 2 Total hip replacement: (a) cemented implant, (b) cementless implant.

Figure 3 Cemented total hip replacement (functions of bone cement).

Figure 4 The number of TKR procedures performed in the UK between the years 2003-2014, adapted from NJR, 2015.

Figure 5 The number of THR in UK between the years 2003-2014, adapted from NJR, 2015.

Figure 6 Free radical polymerization reaction of PMMA .

Figure 7 Proposed liposome-Pluronics structure.

Figure 8 Scheme of (a) GTMC mixed with bone cement (b) bone cement formulated with MSN at low loading and (c) effective diffusion network formed by MSN in PMMA based bone

List of figures



Figure 1







Figure 3



Figure 4



Figure 5



methyl methacrylate

poly(methyl methacrylate)

Figure 6



Figure 7



Figure 8